Climate Change and Desertification, Land Degradation and Drought

in North-East Asia

Part II

Acknowledgement

The report was prepared under the leadership and guidance of Tiziana Bonapace, Director, ICT and Disaster Risk Reduction Division (IDD), and Ganbold Baasanjav, Head of Subregional Office for East and North-East Asia.

The core drafting team led by Sanjay Srivastava, Chief, Disaster Risk Reduction Section, IDD, consisted of Sung Eun Kim, Prangya Gupta and Sanjay Srivastava. Maria Bernadet K. Dewi, Joonsoo Jang, Rijoo Kim, Heerae Lee provided substantive input and research assistance and support during the production process. ESCAP staff who provided inputs and comments include Sangmin Nam, Qian Cheng, Minkyung Hong.

The report was enriched by the comments received from Araj D. (Indian Space Research Organization), Govindarajalu Srinivasan (Regional Integrated Multi-Hazard Early Warning Systems for Africa and Asia), Sonam Wangyel Wang (Korea University).

Table of Contents

Acknowledgement	.ii
Table of Contents	iii
Figures	iv
Tables	. v
Executive Summary	vi
Chapter I. Overview	.1
1.1 Overview of the risk in North-East Asia	.1
1.2 Climate change and desertification, land degradation and drought	.5
Chapter II. Shifting 'riskscape' in North-East Asia	.9
2.1 Desertification and land degradation	.9
2.2 Drought	14
Chapter III. Potential impacts of Intensifying Risks in North-East Asia	20
3.1 Population Exposure	20
3.2 Exposure of Agriculture	24
Chapter IV. Recommendations	31
References	34

Figures

Figure 1 Global impacts of desertification, land degradation and drought events'
Figure 2 Average annual loss for drought in North-East Asian countries
Figure 3 Drought occurrence in China ³
Figure 4 Per cent change in (1) population in areas experiencing desertification; (2) dryland areas in
drought annually and (3) inland wetland extent for 1961 and 1970 average7
Figure 5 Climate change and its implications for DLDD
Figure 6 Land classification based on Aridity Index (AI) in North-East Asia10
Figure 7 Projected increase of annual average temperature in hyper-arid, arid and semi-arid areas under SSP2-4.5 (up) and SSP5-8.5 (down), 2021-2040
Figure 8 Projected change (%) of total annual precipitation in hyper-arid, arid and semi-arid areas under
SSP2-4.5 (up) and SSP5-8.5 (down), 2021-2040
Figure 9 Total livestock density per square kilometres
Figure 10 Projected increase of the maximum number of consecutive dry days in North-East Asia under
SSP2-4.5, 2021-2040
Figure 11 Projected increase of average annual temperature in North-East Asia under SSP2-4.5, 2021-2040
Figure 12 Projected increase of the maximum number of consecutive dry days in North-East Asia under
SSP5-8.5, 2021-2040
Figure 13 Projected increase of average annual temperature in North-East Asia under SSP5-8.5, 2021-2040
Figure 14 Population exposed to intensifying desertification risk, under SSP2-4.5 (up) and SSP5-8.5 (down), 2021-2040
Figure 15 Population exposed to intensifying drought risk, under SSP2-4.5 (up) and SSP5-8.5 (down), 2021-2040
Figure 16 Agricultural production volume exposed to intensifying desertification risk, under SSP2-4.5 (up) and SSP5-8.5 (down), 2021-2040
Figure 17 Agricultural production exposed to intensifying drought risk, under SSP2-4.5 (up) and SSP5-8.5 (down), 2021-2040
Figure 18. Satellite imagery of Xinkai Lake in 2001, 2004 and 2006, ^{iv} and Taigan lake in 2000 and 2020 ^v

Tables

Table 1 Population exposed to intensifying desertification risk in North-East Asia	21
Table 2 Population exposed to intensifying drought risk in North-East Asia	24
Table 3 Agriculture production volume and values exposed to intensifying desertification risk in Nort	h-
East Asia, 2021-2040	26
Table 4 Livestock population exposed to intensifying desertification risk, 2021-2040	26
Table 5 Agriculture production volume and value exposed to intensifying drought risk in North-East	Asia,
2021-2040	28
Table 6 Livestock population exposed to intensifying drought risk in North-East Asia, 2021-2040	29
Table 7 Existing subregional mechanism in North-East Asia	32

Executive Summary

Desertification, land degradation, and drought (DLDD) pose formidable challenges to the sustainable development goals, particularly SDG 15 – life on land, in North-East Asia. Approximately 77.8 per cent of Mongolia's land area, 34.6 per cent of China's land area, and 7 per cent of the Russian Federation's land area are dryland and prone to desertification and land degradation. Drought also profoundly impacts the people and their livelihoods with a high economic burden in North-East Asia.

Climate change is likely to add desertification, land degradation, and drought risks in many parts of North-East Asia. In the most eastern part of North-East Asia, the temperature has substantially increased in the past decades. In the arid areas of northwest China, the temperature has risen by 0.34°C per decade during 1960-2010. Mongolia has also experienced rapid warming between 1940 and 2015, with an average temperature increase of 2.24°C. According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) sixth assessment report, the global surface air temperature rises across all emission scenarios. A higher increase in temperature is projected for most parts of the subregion. Arid and semi-arid regions are also very likely to experience further increases in temperature and intense heat stress.

With this purview, this report is to understand the impacts of climate change on desertification, land degradation, and drought characteristics in North-East Asia. Based on the most recent IPCC climate projections under two different scenarios, namely SSP2-4.5 (intermediate emission) and SSP5-8.5 (high emission), the report assesses desertification, land degradation, and drought risks and studies their potential socio-economic impacts in North-East Asia. Population exposure, as a proportion of the total population, to intensifying risk of desertification is highest in Mongolia. Also, more than half of agricultural production and livestock in arid areas of Mongolia is likely to be exposed to increasing desertification risk. Drought risk is also expected to increase in some previously drought-affected regions in North-East Asia. Exposure of population, agricultural production, and livestock to intensifying drought risk is highest in the Russian Federation, followed by China, Japan, and Mongolia in both climate scenarios.

It is necessary to promote science-based, policy-oriented cooperation and adopt long-term proactive measures reflecting risk assessment based on climate projections. As desertification, land degradation, and drought risks are transboundary; subregional cooperation is essential to address the shared risks. The NEASPEC strategic plan 2021- 2025 recognises the need to address desertification and land degradation, focusing on climate change. Subregional cooperation can promote efficient utilisation of resources through strengthening coordination and facilitating technical cooperation and knowledge sharing in addressing these risks.

Chapter I. Overview

The land is one of the world's vital geo-resources, which is the basis of many life support systems. Land resources facilitate the provision of several ecosystem goods and services, and hence, human well-being and sustainable livelihood depend upon their health and productivity. While the growing population and associated demands pose severe pressure on the land resources, climate change also adds stress to the health of the land ecosystem. Desertification, land degradation and drought events affect many people (Figure 1), and thus it is essential to address these hazards to achieve the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.

Figure 1 Global impacts of desertification, land degradation and drought events,1



1.1 Overview of the risk in North-East Asia

Desertification, land degradation and drought (DLDD) are severe problems in North-East Asia.² Desertification is primarily contributed by environmental pollution, land-use change, expansion of agriculture and unsustainable agriculture management practices, deforestation, and overgrazing, which may be further aggravated by climate change and its impacts.^{3,4} A recent estimate shows that 77.8 per cent of Mongolia's land area is undergoing degradation, of which 9.9 per cent is highly degraded and prone to desertification.⁵ For example, time-series analysis in the Khogno Khaan protected area in central Mongolia shows a significant increase in the area under severe desertification between 1990 and 2011.⁶ In China, the dryland, which is prone to desertification, is estimated to cover 34.6 per cent of its land area, mainly spreading across the northern and north-western parts. In response, China has launched an integrated policy

⁴ UNCCD 2019

¹ Le et al 2016

² UNCCD 2019

³ Yulin et al. 2011

⁵ UNCCD 2019

⁶ Lamchin et al 2016

and legal framework to combat desertification from the early 2000s. This has contributed to reducing the degrees and areas under desertification between 2004 and 2014. However, around 90 per cent of grassland and many other natural systems are still undergoing different degrees of degradation.⁷ In the Russian Federation, about 7 per cent of the total area were reported prone to desertification primarily due to degradation in pastureland vegetation. Most desertification prone areas are concentrated in the south-eastern end of the Russian Federation.⁸

Soil erosion in arable or intensively grazed lands can be 100 to 1,000 times higher than natural erosion, reducing land productivity.⁹ In the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPR Korea) and the Russian Federation, land degradation through soil erosion is a significant threat to agriculture, especially in areas with a slope above 10 degrees. The DPR Korea Environment and Climate Outlook in 2012 estimated around 40-60 tonnes/ha of soil is lost through erosion every year in DPR Korea, which may increase up to 100 tonnes/ha per year in severe cases.¹⁰ In the Russian Federation, around 50 per cent of the land area is prone to degradation, of which 13 per cent is already either moderately or strongly degraded due to soil erosion.^{11,12} In Japan, 30 per cent of agricultural land is already degraded.¹³

Droughts affect millions of people and large areas of land worldwide. From 1961 to 2013, drought events have increased by more than 1 per cent per year in arid and semi-arid areas and is also projected to increase in many arid and semi-arid regions under climate change scenarios.¹⁴ This is not much different in North-East Asia. Mongolia has been affected by frequent drought in the summer season, followed by China and the Russian Federation.¹⁵ The impact of drought in Mongolia is amplified when summer drought combines with harsh winter conditions (dzud), affecting people and livestock.¹⁶ Drought events significantly affect agricultural production and water supply in Mongolia, China and the Russian Federation, with a high average annual loss (AAL) (Figure 2).¹⁷ In Mongolia, drought was responsible for 84.7 per cent of total AAL from natural hazards, followed by China and the Russian Federation at 80 per cent, respectively.¹⁸

- ⁸ Kust et al. 2011
- ⁹ FAO n.d.
- ¹⁰ Molep, DPRK 2012

- ¹² Tsymbarovich and other 2020
- ¹³ UNCCD n.d.

⁷ UNCCD 2019

¹¹ State report 2017

¹⁴ Ranasinghe et al.2021

¹⁵ UNESCAP 2020

¹⁶ UNCCD 2019

¹⁷ UNESCAP 2020

¹⁸ UNESCAP 2020



Figure 2 Average annual loss for drought in North-East Asian countries

There has been a limited increase in the frequency and the span of areas affected by drought in most parts of China,¹⁹ but a significant increase is observed in some parts.²⁰ The chronological order of droughts in China shows that major drought events were primarily recorded in provinces in north, east and central China before the 2000s (Figure 3). Arid or semi-arid conditions prevail in this region, making the region drought-prone. However, since 2006, there has been an expansion of drought-affected areas in China, including dry sub-humid or humid areas such as southern China.

Data source: ESCAP (2020) Asia-Pacific Disaster Report 2019 - East and North-East Asia

¹⁹ UNDRR 2021

²⁰ Xu et al.2015

Figure 3 Drought occurrence in China²¹



Drought is also a frequent phenomenon in DPR Korea during the spring season, and it suffered greatly from prolonged droughts.²² In 2019, a long dry spell during the first five months of the year created food insecurity, malnutrition and illness for about 40 per cent of its population.²³ The Republic of Korea is also experiencing an increasing drought frequency during the last two decades.²⁴ Historically, droughts occurred 1.5 times per 10 years in the Republic of Korea, but since 2000, drought has become more frequent. Although there is a high variation in drought occurrence across the nation, the central part is most frequently affected by drought.²⁵

²¹ EM-DAT 2021

²² International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies 2019

²³ BBC 2019

²⁴KOICA-UN ESCAP 2019

²⁵KOICA-UN ESCAP 2019

1.2 Climate change and desertification, land degradation and drought

Global surface air temperature is on the rise. So far, a long-term warming trend in annual mean surface temperature has been observed across Asia, which was accelerated post-1970. While temperature has increased more than 0.1°C per decade in most of the eastern part of North-East Asia, northern China experienced the most substantial warming with a 0.3 to 0.4°C increase in temperature per decade. In the Tokyo metropolitan area, the annual mean temperature has increased by 3°C per century between 1901-2015. In the Republic of Korea, the temperature has increased 1.9°C from 1912 to 2014, higher than the global average.²⁶ Mongolia has also experienced rapid warming between 1940 and 2015, with a rise in average temperature by 2.24°C.²⁷

This trend is likely to continue across all emission scenarios resulting in the frequent occurrence of extreme temperature events such as heatwaves.²⁸ The higher increase in temperature is projected for southern, north-western, and north-eastern regions of China, parts of Mongolia, the Korean Peninsula, and Japan. The surface air temperature is also expected to increase further in most Russian Federation under intermediate (SSP2-4.5) and high (SSP5-8.5) emission scenarios.²⁹ Moreover, the increase in temperature is very likely to exceed 5°C by the end of this century in the eastern part of the Russian Federation under the worst-case scenario (SSP5-8.5).

Precipitation trends have significant regional differences in North-East Asia. Deficient seasonal precipitation is observed in several parts of the region due to the weakening of the East-Asian Summer Monsoon since 1920, while the spatial variability of rainfall has remained high.³⁰ Daily precipitation extremes have increased in many parts, and heavy precipitation is expected to increase.³¹ Summer rainfall in China has first shown decreasing and then an increasing trend from 1961 to 2014. In northern China, rainfall trend shows negative anomalies while in central-eastern China it had positive anomalies between 1950 and 2000 and then has decreased since 2000. In northwest China, annual precipitation has increased by about 3.7 per cent per decade, which changed the warm-dry condition to warm-wet condition between 1961 and 2015. However, in Mongolia, average annual precipitation has declined by 7 per cent between 1940 and 2015, where the decline was the highest in the central region.³² In the Republic of Korea, summer precipitation has increased while annual and seasonal rainfall have slightly decreased in Japan.³³

In recent climate change projections, the mean annual precipitation and heavy precipitation are likely to increase in most areas of the north-eastern part of the Russian Federation, the Tibetan plateau and eastern China. Summer precipitation in the east part of the Russian Federation may increase up to 9 per cent, while winter precipitation may increase up to 22 per cent under both SSP2-4.5 and SSP5-8.5

²⁶ Gutiérrez et al.20211

²⁷ Climate Change Knowledge Portal 2018

²⁸ Arias et al.2021

²⁹ Ranasinghe et al.2021

³⁰ Hijioka et al.2014

³¹ IPCC WGI – The Physical Science Basis 2021

³² Climate Change Knowledge Portal 2018

³³ Gutiérrez et al.2021

scenarios.³⁴ Drought has increased in some parts of southwest and northwest China, and a significant and localised increasing trend in aridity is expected under SSP2-4.5 and SSP5-8.5 scenarios for 2020-2100.

Between 1961 and 2013, the drought has increased by more than 1 per cent per year in the arid and semi-arid areas globally, and it is also projected to increase in many arid and semi-arid areas in the future.³⁵ With a 1.5°C, 2 °C and 3 °C increase in global temperature, the global dryland population exposed to the various risks, including many in North-East Asia, is projected to reach 951 million, 1,152 million 1,285 million, respectively.³⁶ The persistent change in the atmospheric circulation pattern, such as El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO), is one of the main reasons for the global drought. However, an increase in temperature and uneven precipitation due to climate change trigger a meteorological drought event which is amplified if converged with ENSO.³⁷ Global warming will increase drought risks in the land areas already suffering from drought. The recent climate change projection reports that at 4°C global warming, the eastern part of the subregion is likely to be exposed to agriculture and ecological drought under all scenarios. In contrast, at 1.5 - 2°C warming, this trend is unlikely. At higher warming conditions, the atmospheric evaporative demand increases, and this affects the projected increase in agriculture and ecological drought; however, it affects several regions even at 1.5-2°C global warming.³⁸

Recurring or long-term drought events can cause irreversible changes in the extent of wetlands, soil properties, land productivity and vegetation health, leading to land degradation and desertification. Drought often causes land subsidence due to the over-extraction of groundwater and results in land degradation.³⁹ In drought conditions, high evapotranspiration leads to a drier climate. If such a condition converges with extreme heat events, it can lead to desertification.⁴⁰ An increasing trend in the areas of dryland annually affected by drought is observed between 1961 and 2013.⁴¹

Climate change can accelerate land degradation processes such as soil erosion. This can cause a decline in soil organic matter, nutrient loss, reduced carbon storage, loss of biodiversity, and ecosystem stability. Half of the global soil erosion happens through the water.⁴² Areas projected with an increase in intense precipitation events such as flooding and flash floods in the future are threatened by increased soil erosion by up to 30 per cent even in low emission scenarios (RCP 2.6), and this can lead to land degradation.^{43,44} Heat stress can alter soil nutrient cycles, affect soil health, and trigger land degradation. Wind erosion can cause the removal of topsoil and loss of soil organic matter. Around 28 per cent of global land is suffering

³⁴ Gutiérrez et al.2021

³⁵ Ranasinghe et al.2021

³⁶ Mirzabaev et al.2019

³⁷ United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction 2021

³⁸ Seneviratne et al.2021

³⁹ Olsson et al.2019 (IPCC land report- chapter 4)

⁴⁰ Vogel et al.2021

⁴¹ Ziese et al.2014

⁴² Borrelli et al.2017

⁴³ Borrelli et al.2020

⁴⁴ Olsson et al.2019

from land degradation contributed by wind erosion.⁴⁵ Biologically regulated processes such as changes in the vegetation cover and composition due to changes in precipitation also can lead to land degradation. An increase in temperature can cause an increase in the rate of evapotranspiration from shallow groundwater, leading to salinisation and land degradation.

Globally, drylands have increased by 0.35 per cent from 1951-1980 to 1981-2010, mainly in the semiarid areas. The range and extent of desertification have also increased in some dryland areas (Figure 4). Under climate change scenarios, the extent of drylands is projected to expand further in many parts of the world because of precipitation anomalies, increase in temperature and potential evapotranspiration (PET), and decrease in soil moisture.^{46,47} A study on seasonal vegetation conditions and related probability of desertification under different climate change scenarios also found the accelerated likelihood of desertification in north-western China and Mongolia in the near and far future.⁴⁸ The global population exposure to desertification has increased by around 200 per cent since 1961, and the decreasing trend in the extent of inland wetland can pose an additional threat to desertification (Figure 4).⁴⁹ The unprecedented changes in the Earth's climate system are one of the factors responsible for the increased intensity and scale of desertification, land degradation and drought events in recent times.⁵⁰

Figure 4 Per cent change in (1) population in areas experiencing desertification; (2) dryland areas in drought annually and (3) inland wetland extent for 1961 and 1970 average ⁵¹



While several parts of North-East Asia are already affected, increasing temperature and changing precipitation patterns will affect desertification, land degradation, and drought risks, which are closely intertwined (Figure 5). Climate anomalies can cause land degradation, which can be further aggravated by

- ⁴⁹ Arneth et al.2019
- ⁵⁰ IPBES 2018
- ⁵¹ Arneth et al.2019

⁴⁵ European Soil Data Centre 2021

⁴⁶ Cherlet et al. 2018

⁴⁷ Mirzabaev et al.2019

⁴⁸ Miao et al.2015

drought and lead to desertification. ⁵² As climate drivers influence the extent and intensity of desertification, land degradation and drought events, it is necessary to understand how climate change will affect the desertification, land degradation and drought risks in North-East Asia.



Figure 5 Climate change and its implications for DLDD

⁵² EU Science Hub n.d.

Chapter II. Shifting 'riskscape' in North-East Asia

The current report is focused on understanding climate change impact on desertification, land degradation and drought 'riskscape' in North-East Asia.⁵³ For this purpose, two recent IPCC climate change scenarios are considered, namely SSP2-4.5 and SSP5-8.5. The climate change scenarios are based on the future Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emission pathways which depend on the population size, economic activity, lifestyle, energy use, land use patterns, technology, and climate policy.⁵⁴ According to the latest IPCC report, SSP2-4.5 is the intermediate scenario where the global surface temperature is likely to be higher by 1.2°C to 1.8°C compared to the pre-industrial level (1850-1900) by 2040. SSP5-8.5 is the worst-case scenario where global surface temperature is likely to increase by 1.3°C to 1.9°C compared to the pre-industrial level (1850-1900) by 2040. SSP5-8.5 is the worst-case scenario where global surface temperature is likely to increase by 1.3°C to 1.9°C compared to the pre-industrial level (1850-1900) by 2040. In this report, the future desertification, land degradation and drought risk are analysed using projected changes in temperature and precipitation in North-East Asia as the primary climate drivers under the two scenarios compared to the 1995-2014 baseline. To understand the status of desertification and land degradation, the aridity Index is used, while for drought, past drought events data is used.

Desertification and land degradation are predominantly driven by human activities, with climate drivers putting additional pressure. It is generally the result of a single or combination of multiple drivers such as agricultural expansion, rapid urbanisation due to population pressure, extensive grazing, unsustainable land management for agriculture and grazing, and deforestation.^{55,56} However, it should be noted that this report only focuses on the impacts of climate drivers, such as anomalies in temperature and precipitation. The influence of human interference is out of the scope of this paper.

2.1 Desertification and land degradation

Aridity is a climate phenomenon and represents the spatial and/or temporal deficiency of water. Aridity is quantified using a ratio of long-term average precipitation and long-term average potential evapotranspiration.⁵⁷ While rainfall is on water supply, potential evapotranspiration is the climatic water demand. Hence, aridity increases when either precipitation decreases or potential evapotranspiration increases. In both cases, the dryness of land is enhanced. Arid lands are subjected to different climate-related erosion processes, enhancing land degradation and desertification risk.⁵⁸ It is estimated that by 2100, 6 per cent humid and dry sub-humid regions may become semi-arid, 15 per cent of the semi-arid region may convert into arid, and 15 per cent of arid areas are likely to become hyper-arid.^{59,60}

⁵³ 'Riskscape' refers to disaster risk landscape, as in the ESCAP's Asia-Pacific Disaster Report 2019.

⁵⁴ IPCC 2014

⁵⁵ Mirzabaev et al.2019

⁵⁶ IPBES 2018

⁵⁷ Cherlet et al. 2018

⁵⁸ Mirzabaev et al.2016

⁵⁹ Huang et al.2016

⁶⁰ Feng and Fu 2013

Figure 6 represents the changes in the aridity in North-East Asia between 1961-1990 to 1970-2000. Although there has not been much change in the span of the arid region except in the north and east Mongolia and northern China, the semi-arid region is showing a significant increase between the two periods, especially in the north-eastern China and eastern part of the Russian Federation. It is estimated that around 74 per cent expansion of areas has occurred in the semi-arid region, whereas the arid region has expanded by 14 per cent between the periods. The hyper-arid area, which was primarily limited to western China, has expanded towards the north-east till the southern part of Mongolia with a 49 per cent increase in area between the two time periods.



Figure 6 Land classification based on Aridity Index (AI) in North-East Asia

Global surface temperature is expected to increase under all IPCC (AR6) emission scenarios in the coming decades.⁶¹ An increase in temperature leads to an increase in evaporative demand of the atmosphere and increases soil moisture loss due to evapotranspiration, thus increasing aridity. Feng et al. (2015) observed that an increase in mean annual temperature contributes significantly to the desertification rate in north-western China.⁶²

In North-East Asia, by 2040, the annual average temperature is expected to increase more than 1°C across most of the hyper-arid, arid and semi-arid areas, except for some parts of the Tibetan plateau, under both climate change scenarios (Figure 7). In northern China, Mongolia, and the eastern and south-western part of the Russian Federation, the annual average temperature may increase up to 1.5°C, while in the north-eastern part of the Russian Federation, it may increase up to 2°C under intermediate scenario (SSP2-4.5) from the 1995-2014 baseline. In the worst-case scenario (SSP5-8.5), entire dry areas under China and Mongolia may experience up to 1.5°C rise in temperature. The areas up to 2°C increase in temperature may expand across the entire arid region of the eastern part of the Russian Federation and cover some parts of its south-western parts.

⁶¹ IPCC 2021 (SPM)

⁶² Feng et al.2015





Climate change is also expected to change the precipitation pattern. Heavy and extreme daily precipitation is likely to increase globally with additional global warming.⁶³ Figure 8 depicts the projected change in the total precipitation under two different climate change scenarios during 2021-2040 in the hyper-arid, arid, and semi-arid areas of North-East Asia. It is observed that most of the hyper-arid, arid and semi-arid areas in North-East Asia are expected to receive slightly more precipitation than the long-term average under climate change conditions. Most dry regions are expected to receive around 1-5 per cent more rainfall under both scenarios. More than a 5 per cent increase in precipitation is expected in the hyper-arid regions of western China and southern Mongolia and the semi-arid areas of the eastern part of the Russian Federation under SSP2-4.5. Precipitation is expected to decrease by up to 2 per cent in some parts of the Tibetan plateau. Under SSP5-8.5, the areas with a 5-10 per cent increase in precipitation expand, covering semi-arid regions in the eastern part of the Russian Federation and most of the hyper-arid and arid areas of northern China and southern Mongolia. The areas to receive more than a 10 per cent increase in total annual precipitation also expand in the eastern part of the Russian Federation and some parts of the Gobi Desert area. The semi-arid regions in northern China and the rest of Mongolia are expected to receive

⁶³ IPCC 2021 (SPM)

1-5 per cent more precipitation than the long-term average. Only a tiny part of the Tibetan plateau is expected to receive less rainfall by up to 2 per cent.







Dryland areas are characterised by scarce and variable rainfall, making them susceptible to land degradation and desertification. High temperature aggravates the prevailing condition. Although a slight increase in precipitation is expected in many parts of the region, precipitation is already scarce in many of these areas, varying from less than 50 mm annual average precipitation in the west to 200 mm in the northeast.⁶⁴ A 5-10

⁶⁴ Britannica n.d.(a)

per cent increase in total annual precipitation is only around 2.5mm-20mm and is thus unlikely to make significant changes in prevailing dry conditions. On the other hand, an increase in temperature up to 1.5°C and the resultant increase in potential evapotranspiration may significantly impact the aridity of this region and accelerate desertification.

Impacts of desertification on the pastoralism: in Mongolia

Gobi Desert spans around 1,295,000 square kilometres in northern China and southern Mongolia.ⁱ Despite being a cold desert, the arid lands support significant wildlife, unique biodiversity and many endangered species. The desert grassland areas are home to nomadic pastoralists and their livestock. The number of livestock has increased in this region since the 1990s. Pastoralism contributes significantly to the GDP of developing countries with dryland, and for example, 30 per cent of the GDP of Mongolia comes from pastoralism.ⁱⁱⁱ This dryland ecosystem depends heavily on natural resources, among which precipitation is the most important. Annual rainfall is less than 40 mm in the arid region with wide interannual and spatial variability, and most of the rain is received in summer. Desertification expands in the Gobi Desert by transforming extensive grasslands into a wasteland and threatening the nearby civilisation.^{iv} Hence, precipitation deficiency can accelerate desertification and cause disastrous impacts on the marginal population and livestock. An increase in temperature may increase the threat.



Source: Rao et al. 2015

During 2000-2002 and 2009-2010, around 20 million livestock perished in Mongolia, triggered by a summer (July-September) drought and precipitation deficit before harsh winter (November-February). Summer drought depleted pastures and increased the vulnerability of animals to the following harsh winter. In 2010, the livestock population dropped by 20 per cent in some areas. While a large proportion of the population depends on herding as the primary source of income, such an event increased economic hardship and poverty of the locals and caused population migration. ^v

~	
Source:	
Source.	

- i. Rechtschaffen, D. 2017
- ii. Heiner and others 2020
- iii. WISP 2008
- iv. Rechtschaffen, D. 2017
- v. Rao et al. 2015

2.2 Drought

The summer monsoon brings about the most significant rainfall in North-East Asia. Robust monsoon precipitation provides most water required for population, agriculture, and ecosystem, while a weak monsoon often leads to droughts.⁶⁵ With a warming climate, precipitation variability increases, and this can contribute to the occurrence of droughts. High temperatures and heatwaves often trigger meteorological droughts.⁶⁶ An increase in atmospheric evaporative demand increases plant water stress and leads to agricultural and ecological drought. Warming over land enhances the atmospheric evaporative demand and increases the severity of drought and aridity.⁶⁷

The surface temperature over North-East Asia is likely to increase for both intermediate (SSP2-4.5) and worst-case (SSP5-8.5) climate scenarios, while heavy precipitation is also projected to increase both in frequency and intensity.⁶⁸ To assess the probability of drought occurrence, the maximum number of consecutive dry days (CDD), as well as increase of annual average temperature, has been used as the proxy driver of drought.^{69,70}

Figures 10 depicts the projected increase of the maximum number of CDD in drought-prone areas of North-East Asia under the intermediate (SSP2-4.5) scenario for the next two decades. It is observed that many of the currently drought-stricken regions in the sub-tropical parts are likely to experience increasing numbers of CDD. Parts of central, northern and southern provinces of China, western part of Tibetan plateau and Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region (Xinjiang), parts of western Mongolia, parts of central Japan and western and southern parts of the Russian Federation are expected to experience an increase in CDD by up to 14 days.

⁶⁸ IPCC 2021

⁶⁵ Zhang and Zhou 2015

⁶⁶ UNDRR 2021 (GAR)

⁶⁷ Douville and other 2021

⁶⁹ Sieck et al.2021

⁷⁰ Duan et al.2017



Figure 10 Projected increase of the maximum number of consecutive dry days in North-East Asia under SSP2-4.5, 2021-2040

The annual average temperature is also very likely to increase across the drought-prone areas of North-East Asia (Figure 11). A higher increase (1.5°C-2 °C) is likely in the northern part of the Russian Federation. In the southern Russian Federation, Mongolia, north of China and DPR Korea, the annual average temperature may increase up to 1.5°C. The probability of drought is likely to increase in the drought-prone areas where both CDD and average annual temperature increase. For example, the western parts of Xinjiang and southwestern Tibetan plateau are expected to experience more droughts. Provinces in central China and west Mongolia may also experience more drought due to climate change.





Under the worst-case scenario (SSP5-8.5), the picture is not very different from the above. Parts of southern China, southwestern Tibetan Plateau and western part of Xinjiang provinces of China, parts of central Japan and western Mongolia may experience an increase in CDD up to 15 days (Figure 12). In Hubei, Sichuan, southwestern Tibetan Plateau and western Xinjiang provinces of China and west Mongolia, the annual average temperature may increase up to 1.5°C (Figure 13). Drought risk is expected to intensify further in these areas.



Figure 12 Projected increase of the maximum number of consecutive dry days in North-East Asia under SSP5-8.5, 2021-2040

Figure 13 Projected increase of average annual temperature in North-East Asia under SSP5-8.5, 2021-2040



Climate change and drought scenario in southern China

Yunnan province, located in the humid region in southwest China, is relatively a water-rich area with annual precipitation of more than 800 mm and 62 per cent of forest cover.ⁱ However, over 80 per cent of the total annual rainfall is received during the summer monsoon season from May to October. The summer monsoon season starts relatively late in southwest China, compared to the other region in the same latitude. Further delay in the onset of the rainy season can thus lead to a drought event which can be extended to the winter season. Moreover, the subsurface runoff is high, leading to a low groundwater recharge rate. 70 per cent of all droughts in this area occur due to the late onset of the summer monsoon.ⁱⁱ

Droughts have increased in Yunnan province since 2000, primarily due to climate change and related precipitation anomalies. The drought cycle in this region has shortened from previously 2-3 years to now 1-2 years.ⁱⁱⁱ For example, in 2019, Yunnan province was exposed to a spring-summer drought. This impacted 1.35 million hectares of crop and resulted in 6.5 billion Yuans of direct economic loss.^{iv} 34 per cent below average precipitation coupled with 1.9°C above average temperature for five consecutive months (February to June) led to complete depletion of water flow in 15 rivers and drying of many reservoirs. The drought also affected 290,000 people and 100,000 livestock.^{v,vi}

Source:

- i. Ying, Z. 2020
- ii. Ding and Gao 2020
- iii. Jinghao, Y. 2019
- iv. Ding and Gao 2020
- v. Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Kingdom of Thailand 2020
- vi. Ding and Gao 2020

KEY FINDINGS

Under climate change scenarios SSP2-4.5 and SSP5-8.5, the annual average temperature will likely increase in entire North-East Asia by 2040. The increase is more towards the higher latitude than the sub-tropical region.

- Compared to 1995-2014, annual average temperature may increase by up to 1.5°C in most of the hyper-arid, arid and semi-arid regions of China, Mongolia and the Russian Federation under SSP2-4.5 scenario, excluding some hyper-arid and arid areas.
- Under the SSP5-8.5 scenario, annual average temperature in hyper-arid, arid and semi-arid regions of China and Mongolia and parts of the Russian Federation is projected to increase by 1.5°C. Higher latitude drylands of the Russian Federation may see up to a 2°C increase in annual average temperature.

Under climate change scenarios SSP2-4.5 and SSP5-8.5, the annual average precipitation is expected to increase slightly in most parts of North-East Asia. However, the increase in rainfall may not be significant to overcome the existing dry condition. Increasing temperature in the dry areas may intensify the existing risk of desertification.

- Annual average precipitation is expected to decrease in tiny areas in the arid and semi-arid regions of eastern Russian Federation, western China and south-western Tibetan plateau under SSP2-4.5 scenario.
- Under the SSP5-8.5 scenario, only some parts of western China and the south-western Tibetan plateau may experience a decrease in annual average precipitation.

The maximum number of consecutive dry days is expected to increase in some of the previously drought-affected areas of North-East Asia.

- CDD is likely to increase up to 14 days in some previously drought-affected areas of central and southwestern China, western Mongolia and central Japan under SSP2-4.5.
- Under SSP5-8.5, the spatial distribution of CDD remains almost the same but excludes the areas in central China. The projected increase in days is likely to reach up to 15 days.
- Additionally, most of the previously drought-affected areas are projected to experience increasing temperature under both SSP2-4.5 and SSP5-8.5.
- Increasing the maximum number of consecutive dry days and the annual average temperature may intensify the existing drought risk in the drought-prone areas of the region.

Chapter III. Potential impacts of Intensifying Risks in North-East Asia

Climate change and associated events influence social and economic activities. Although impacts of desertification, land degradation and drought events may not be visible as clearly as those of intensive disasters such as earthquakes, floods and tropical cyclones, their long-term impacts on agriculture and food security, human health and critical infrastructures, among others, can result in substantial social, economic and environmental cost. In this regard, this section discusses the potential impacts of intensifying risk of desertification, land degradation and drought in North-East Asia under future climate change scenarios.

3.1 Population Exposure

The North-East Asia region has varied demographic distribution. The Republic of Korea, one of the most densely populated countries, Mongolia, one of the sparsely populated countries and China, the most populated country globally, are all in this region. Therefore, desertification and drought will have a wide-ranging impact. Although most of the arid and semi-arid areas are sparsely populated, some densely populated areas are likely under the threat of desertification. Figure 14 depicts the population exposed to intensifying desertification risk, measured by the number of people living in hyper-arid, arid and semi-arid areas and expected to experience more than 1°C projected increase in annual average temperature between 1995-2014 and 2021-2040.



Figure 14 Population exposed to intensifying desertification risk, under SSP2-4.5 (up) and SSP5-8.5 (down), 2021-2040



Under both the climate change scenarios, the eastern provinces of China located in the semi-arid region have the most population exposed to intensifying desertification risk. The populated cities in western China, such as Urumqi and Kashgar, is also located in areas with intensifying desertification risk. Many people in the Baotou and Huimin districts in inner Mongolia are also exposed to the higher temperature associated with the arid condition. In Mongolia, Ulaanbaatar, the most densely populated city, and the surrounding areas are exposed to intensifying risk of desertification from climate drivers. Table 1 presents the population exposed to intensifying desertification risk in North-East Asia. As a proportion of the total population, Mongolia has the highest per cent of people exposed, followed by China and the Russian Federation under both climate scenarios.

Country	% of the total population				
Country	SSP2-4.5	SSP5-8.5			
China	18.24	15.70			
Mongolia	58.13	49.24			
Russian Federation	11.83	11.74			

Vulnerability to intensifying desertification risk: Mongolia

The human development index (HDI) can assess population vulnerability to climate change, and associated desertification risk can be assessed with the human development index (HDI). Mongolia has comparatively high population exposure to intensifying desertification risk as a proportion to the total

population. A closer look at the spatial distribution of HDI in Mongolia, along with a projected increase in annual average temperature, reveals that people in western Mongolia (Dornod, Hentiy and Suhbaatar provinces) and northern Mongolia (Hovsgol and Bulgan Orhon provinces) are potentially more vulnerable to the intensifying desertification risks. In comparison, the capital and the surrounding region have comparatively higher HDI and are expected to be more resilient to the impacts of climate change.



Figure 15 locates the potential population clusters exposed to intensifying drought risk under two climate change scenarios, measured by an increase in a maximum number of consecutive dry days in drought-prone areas. It shows that several densely populated cities such as Zangjiakou, Nanyang, Huaihua, Zangjiajie, Tongren, Dali and Kashgar, may be exposed to intensifying drought risk under SSP2-4.5 scenario. The result was similar under the worst-case climate change scenario, except for the cities in northern China. The proportion of the population likely to be exposed to intensifying drought risk is highest in the Russian Federation, followed by China, Japan and Mongolia (Table 2).



Figure 15 Population exposed to intensifying drought risk, under SSP2-4.5 (up) and SSP5-8.5 (down), 2021-2040

Country	Number	of people (%	6 of the total populatio	n)
	SSP2-4.5	;	SSP5-8.4	5
Japan	699,715	(0.58%)	719,717	(0.60%)
China	14,465,304	(1.00%)	6,979,442	(0.48%)
Mongolia	5,373	(0.17%)	3,721	(0.12%)
Russian Federation	5,337,157	(3.80%)	5,691,665	(4.06%)

Table 2 Population exposed to intensifying drought risk in North-East Asia

3.2 Exposure of Agriculture

Most agriculture activities in North-East Asia are carried out in the humid and dry sub-humid region. China is the largest agriculture producer, consumer and trader in this region.⁷¹ It contributes to the lion share (around 87 per cent) of the subregion's agriculture production, followed by the Russian Federation, Japan, the Republic of Korea, and DPR Korea. Countries in the subregion are also significant producers and consumers in the global market.

Intensifying desertification and drought risks in North-East Asia are likely to affect some major agricultural areas in North-East Asia. Figure 16 represents the spatial distribution of agriculture production exposed to intensifying desertification risk under intermediate (SSP2-4.5) and worst-case (SSP5-8.5) scenarios. Agricultural production in arid Xinjiang province in north-western China and parts of Shandong, Henan and Anhui provinces in the fringe of the semi-arid region in eastern China are expected to experience temperature increase under the intermediate climate change scenario. Xinjiang province is the largest cotton producer in China,⁷² which is a high-value crop and water-intensive. Although the water supply for cotton cultivation usually comes from irrigation, increase in the irrigated area since the 1950s resulted in a decrease in river runoff in this area.^{73, 74} A potential increase in annual average temperature may increase crop water demand and reduce soil water content due to increased potential evapotranspiration, especially the young plants. This may affect the production volume. Likewise, in the east coast of China, Shandong province is one of the essential agricultural producers as well as exporters of peanuts, wheat, corn, soybean, millet and sweet potato.^{75,76} Intensifying desertification risk is likely to impact the production of these products profoundly. At the same time, maize production in Shaanxi province is also expected to be affected due to an increase in temperature.⁷⁷ In Mongolia, agriculture is concentrated in the northern semiarid part, where predominantly wheat and potato are grown domestically.⁷⁸ This area is undergoing light

⁷¹ Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of The People's Republic of China n.d.

⁷² Li et al.2020

⁷³ Rouzi et al.2018

⁷⁴ Liwen et al.n.d.

⁷⁵ Baixin and Zhenguo 2002

⁷⁶ Britannica n.d.(b)

⁷⁷ Wei et al.2017

⁷⁸ Ganbaatar and Lee 2013

desertification,⁷⁹ and temperature is expected to increase up to 1.5°C, aggravating the current desertification condition and affecting agriculture production. This may hamper the domestic supply chain of wheat and potato.





Table 3 shows agricultural production exposed to intensifying desertification risk in North-East Asia. In both scenarios, **Mongolia is expected to have the highest proportion of production volume and value exposed**

⁷⁹ Meng et al.2021

to intensifying desertification risk, followed by the Russian Federation and China. In Mongolia, more than 50 per cent of agricultural products and their values are exposed to intensifying desertification risk under both scenarios. Although only around 1 per cent of Mongolia's land is cultivable,⁸⁰ Mongolia's agriculture sector (including livestock) employs nearly one-third of Mongolia's population and contributes more than 10 per cent of GDP.⁸¹ Thus, any impact on the agriculture sector may have significant implications on its economy and people's livelihood.

Country	Agriculture pro (% of		Agriculture production value (% of total)			
	SSP2-4.5	SSP5-8.5	SSP5-8.5			
China	17.92	15.42	19.54	16.72		
Mongolia	58.29	49.28	58.23	49.27		
Russian Federation	18.72	16.75	20.72	18.79		

Table 3 Agriculture production volume and values exposed to intensifying desertification risk in
North-East Asia, 2021-2040

Besides food grains, livestock products are an important agricultural commodity for food security. Intensifying desertification risk can also affect livestock regarding availability of natural resources, quality and quantity of feed crops, and livestock health.⁸² In water constraint arid and semi-arid areas, further temperature increases, leading to an increase in evaporation, will affect the water availability in the lakes, rivers, and springs for animal drinking and decrease the number and health of pasture plant species feeding the livestock. This may result in lower productivity of livestock and an increase in their mortality rate.⁸³

Table 4 presents the estimated proportion of livestock population exposed to intensifying desertification risk under the two climate scenarios. In general, the exposure of livestock population is expected to be higher under the intermediate climate change scenario (SSP2-4.5) than in the worst-case scenario (SSP5-8.5) in all three countries. It is estimated that over 50 per cent of the livestock population of Mongolia is exposed to intensifying desertification risk, followed by China and the Russian Federation. Agri-pastoralism is one of the main economic sectors of Mongolia, which is already under threat due to the sharply increasing number of livestock and exceeding the ecological capacity.⁸⁴ Additional pressure from the projected increase in temperature is likely to exacerbate the stress on the natural resources required for the livestock population.

Table 4 Livestock population exposed to intensifying desertification risk, 2021-2040

Country

Livestock (% of total)

⁸⁰ USAID and MANAGE N.D.

⁸¹ Enkhbold 2016

⁸² Melissa et al.2017

⁸³ Asian Development Bank 2013

⁸⁴ Darbalaeva 2020

		SSP	2-4.5			SSP	5-8.5	
	Cattle	Goat	at Pig Sheep		Cattle	Goat	Pig	Sheep
China	21.99	27.93	13.71	46.55	18.94	23.91	11.75	41.43
Mongolia	57.66	56.64	58.62	57.31	48.98	48.25	49.65	48.59
Russian Federation	18.14	19.14	12.65	23.51	17.99	20.54	11.41	31.64

Figure 17 represents the spatial distribution of agriculture production exposed to intensifying drought risk under intermediate (SSP2-4.5) and worst-case (SSP5-8.5) climate change scenarios. The agriculture production in parts of Hebei, Shanxi and Inner Mongolia provinces in northern China, parts of Sichuan and Hubei provinces in central China, parts of southern China, southwestern Tibetan Plateau and western Xinjiang Uygur province of western China, and central Japan are expected to have more CDD and thus increase in drought risk. Under the worst-case scenario, the high impact of drought is likely to concentrate mainly in Guangdong, Guizhou, Yunnan, Hainan, Sichuan and Hunan provinces in southern and central China. However, the impact is expected to be far more pronounced under the intermediate scenario. The agricultural product value follows the same spatial distribution as the agriculture production.







Table 5 shows agricultural production volume and value in the areas where drought risk is expected to increase. The Russian federation tops the list with around 5 per cent of agricultural production volume and value exposed to intensifying drought risk under both climate scenarios, followed by China, Japan, Mongolia and DPR Korea. Drought affects, among others, soybean during the flowering period, inhibit the growth of sprouts of finest Tea leaves, affect the production of cherries and peaches and declines the quality of Japanese rice.⁸⁵

Country	~ *	oduction volume f total)		iculture production value (% of total)		
	SSP2-4.5	SSP5-8.5	SSP2-4.5	SSP5-8.5		
Japan	0.54	0.54	0.70	0.71		
China	1.04	0.54	1.05	0.54		
DPR Korea	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01		
Mongolia	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.02		
Russian Federation	4.97	4.61	5.45	5.08		

Table 5 Agriculture production volume and value exposed to intensifying drought risk in North-EastAsia, 2021-2040

⁸⁵ Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Government of Japan 2015

Drought also affects the nutritional sources of livestock. If the quality and quantity of available forage decline below a certain level, animal performance reduces.⁸⁶ Table 6 presents exposure of different livestock in drought-prone areas in North-East Asia, where drought risk is expected to increase. **The Russian Federation is expected to be most affected in terms of livestock exposure to increasing drought risk, followed by China, Japan, Mongolia and DPR Korea.** The exposure of studied livestock to increasing drought risk was generally higher under the intermediate climate change scenario (SSP2-4.5) than in the worst-case scenario (SSP5-8.5).

% of total livestock									
Country		SSP2-4.5				SSP5-8.5			
	Cattle	Goat	Pig	Sheep	Cattle	Goat	Pig	Sheep	
Japan	0.47	0.56	0.59	0.31	0.46	0.56	0.57	0.32	
China	1.47	1.34	1.41	1.56	0.81	0.80	0.81	1.09	
DPR Korea	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.05	
Mongolia	0.45	0.51	0.28	0.53	0.30	0.33	0.21	0.33	
Russian Federation	5.83	9.41	2.35	20.28	5.93	9.52	2.73	19.35	

Table 6 Livestock population exposed to intensifying drought risk in North-East Asia, 2021-2040

Mongolia: sub-national scenario

Mongolia is in the arid and semi-arid regions, where the annual average precipitation varies. The southern and central part receives much lower rain (100-200mm), and the Gobi Desert area receives less than 100mm. The aridity and associated desertification and land degradation process have increased in Mongolia in decades. The local climate and anthropogenic activities are responsible for Mongolia's desertification and land degradation. Apart from anthropogenic drivers, changing climate conditions has also contributed to the desertification and land degradation of 51 per cent of its territory. In Mongolia, the temperature was rapidly increased by 2.24°C between 1940 and 2014, while there was a decrease of annual precipitation by 7 per cent between 1940 and 2015.ⁱ Especially, the summer season (June-August), which receives most of the rainfall, has become drier. As a result, land areas under desertification significantly increased from 1990 to 2005. This has also impacted agriculture, animal husbandry and forestry sectors and was partially responsible for the poverty and internal migration from rural to urban areas.ⁱⁱ

Under recent climate change projections by IPCC (2021), although the precipitation is expected to increase in Mongolia slightly, the annual average temperature is projected to increase by 1.5°C across the country. An increase in temperature is likely to decrease soil moisture and increase the plant's evapotranspiration. These areas are sparsely populated, but their poor socio-economic condition makes them more vulnerable to climate change.

⁸⁶ National Drought Mitigation Center n.d.

Mongolia's inland water resources (rivers, springs and lakes) could mitigate the impacts of anticipated increasing temperature and aridity under climate change conditions. However, they are unevenly distributed. Mongolia has around 4,000 lakes and water bodies, of which 70 per cent are confined in 30 per cent of land areas. Furthermore, about 450 lakes and 700 perennial rivers dried out in the last two decades, primarily due to climate change.ⁱⁱⁱ For example, Xinkai lake, situated on the Mongolian Plateau, has decreased by 30 per cent between 1980-2010.^v Similarly, Taigan lake in the Gobi Desert area in southwestern Mongolia shows a shrinking pattern over two decades.

Figure 18. Satellite imagery of Xinkai Lake in 2001, 2004 and 2006,^{iv} and Taigan lake in 2000 and 2020^v



Source:

- i. Ministry of Environment and Tourism, Mongolia, 2018
- ii. Meng and other 2021
- iii. Garmaev and other 2019
- iv. NASA Earth Observatory n.d.
- v. Google Earth: Image Landsat/ Copernicus

KEY FINDINGS

Population exposure, as a proportion of the total population, to intensifying risk of desertification is highest in Mongolia. More than half of Mongolia's agricultural product volume and value and livestock in arid areas are likely exposed to increasing temperature.

Population exposure to the intensifying risk of drought is highest in the Russian Federation, followed by China, Japan, and Mongolia under SSP2-4.5 and SSP5-8.5. The projected exposure of agricultural production and livestock to intensifying drought risk follows the same pattern.

Some hyper-arid, arid and semi-arid areas in northern and western China and western Mongolia are projected to have intensifying drought risk. The persistent drought in these dry regions may aggravate the existing desertification risk in this region.

Chapter IV. Recommendations

Understanding climate risks for adaptation

Desertification and land degradation is one of the programmatic areas of the NEASPEC strategic plan 2021-2025 to address SDG 15 (Life on land). Reducing the impacts of drought and reversing desertification and land degradation at different scales can provide cost-effective and long-term benefits to communities and support the achievement of SDGs. NEASPEC strategic goals are to enhance science-based, policy-oriented cooperation to address desertification, land degradation and drought risks in the subregion. The NEASPEC strategic objective focuses on understanding the interlinkage between climate change, desertification, and land degradation to develop an integrated approach for adaptation.⁸⁷

- For addressing the desertification, land degradation and drought risks, it is necessary to learn and understand the nature, extent, and magnitude of the risk and vulnerability of the society, the environment, and the economy from these risks. Climate change adaptation requires a good understanding of climate change and its potential impacts at a suitable spatial and temporal scale. This will support taking appropriate climate actions and help optimise resource utilisation, especially in resource-scarce areas. Understanding threats arising from the nexus of drought, land degradation and desertification, and projected changes of their drivers are also essential to identify adaptation priorities.
- Risk-informed decision process is required to build resilience against evolving complex 'riskscape'. Based on a good understanding of climate change, a sound risk assessment should be conducted to support the risk-informed decision-making of various levels of stakeholders, from government officials to the private sector and the public. This should consider the dynamics of socioeconomic development that determine the extent of exposure, vulnerability and coping capacity to complex threats like desertification, land degradation and drought. Risk assessment is especially important for high-risk and low-capacity countries that are often highly dependent upon climatesensitive sectors such as agriculture.
- Long-term proactive measures should be taken to address intensifying risks of desertification, land degradation and drought, reflecting climate projections. Desertification, land degradation, and drought events are slow-onset hazards. Managing these risks will require a significant time frame (e.g., 5 -10 years) to plan and design adaptation strategies and implement appropriate measures, considering other climate drivers.

Opportunities for subregional cooperation

The impacts of climate change, desertification, land degradation, and drought events are transboundary. Subregional solutions should reflect teleconnections of climate patterns and linkages of transboundary natural resources and their ecosystem services, and linkages of economy through trade and human mobility. If national adaptation planning processes do not reflect and address these

⁸⁷ NEASPEC Strategic Plan 2021-2025

teleconnections and linkages, adaptation efforts may not be able to achieve intended outcomes. However, there is a lack of recognition of climate change impacts on transboundary natural resources in the international climate change regime and related processes. There are gaps in the governance of common resources, lack of reliable estimates on how, and to what extent, countries are benefiting from these resources, and how climate change can impact these resources.⁸⁸

Regional adaptation planning through regional and subregional cooperation provides an important opportunity to address the gaps. Such cooperation should be able to identify opportunities to collaborate and design interventions for addressing common threats, while also recognizing sub-regional diversities and differences priorities between countries. While financing regional initiatives is a challenge as many bilateral and multilateral donors focus on country-specific programmes, regional cooperation mechanisms should promote innovative regional and subregional programmes, clearly attributing the consequences of climate change impacts on teleconnections of climate patterns and interlinkages of natural resources, ecosystem services and the economy.

In this regard, the NEASPEC strategic plan 2021- 2025 recognises subregional cooperation among the member States for addressing desertification and land degradation, focusing on their interlinkages with climate change. North-East Asian countries are diverse in their landmass, population, socio-economy, culture, resources, and ethnic homogeneity. In addition, the difference in their political and geopolitical outlook and priorities hinders the efficiency of the institutionalised regional cooperation mechanism, although bilateral cooperation is relatively well established.⁸⁹ Table 7 presents some of the existing subregional mechanisms on climate change, desertification, land degradation, and drought in North-East Asia.

Mechanism	Members	Governance	Secretariat	Relevant Areas
NEASPEC	All six countries	Senior officials meeting	ESCAP	Desertification and land degradation
TEMM	China, Japan, ROK	Ministers' Meeting	Host ministry of annual meeting	Climate change
DLDD- NEAN	China, Mongolia, ROK	Steering committee meeting	Korea Forest Service of ROK	Subregional implementation platform for achieving land degradation neutrality target (LDN) and enhancing the implementation of UNCCD

Table 7 Existing subregional mechanism in North-East Asia 90

NEASPEC: North-East Asian Subregional Programme for Environmental Cooperation TEMM: Tripartite Environment Ministers Meeting among Japan, Korea and China

⁸⁸ Prabhakar, S.V.R.K., B.R. Shivakoti and A.F. Corral. 2018. Transboundary Impacts of Climate Change in Asia: Making a Case for Regional Adaptation Planning and Cooperation. IGES Discussion Paper. Institute for Global Environmental Strategies and Global Development Network: Hayama, Japan.

⁸⁹ ESCAP2017a

⁹⁰ ESCAP 2017a

Most existing mechanisms are advisory and do not lead to joint policy formulation. Therefore, the following intergovernmental cooperation measures are proposed to address the intensifying risks of desertification, land degradation and drought in North-East Asia.

- To tackle the common subregional challenges, it is necessary to scale up the subregional environmental cooperation. Desertification, land degradation, and drought events can negatively affect the economy and inequalities and trigger migration, social unrest, and conflicts across the region. Therefore, multilateral cooperation for long term adaptation and resilience to these risks is necessary.
- **Public-private partnership can be encouraged.** Addressing intensifying risks of desertification, land degradation, and drought will require the engagement of all stakeholders. Together with other stakeholders, governments should provide institutional and financial support in addressing the risks by implementing appropriate adaptation measures.
- Subregional cooperation can ensure rational utilisation of resources through strengthening coordination. NEASPEC and other regional mechanisms can promote subregional cooperation in addressing the shared risks. Sharing knowledge and experiences among neighbouring countries will also help build adaptive capacity.
- Technology has great potential in addressing desertification, land degradation and drought risks. Technological cooperation is essential to build subregional resilience. For example, drought monitoring and early warning system, seamless rainfall forecasting system across timescale, a network of meteorological and hydrological stations for data collection, Big Data, IoT, etc., can help identify and monitor the risks.
- It is essential to establish a connection between the national actors with the regional experts (either individual or institutional) on desertification, land degradation and drought. These networks can be utilised to support capacity building of local communities promote the integration of climate scientists and social scientists for taking a holistic approach to the risks.

References

- 1. Arias, P. A., N. Bellouin E Coppola R. G. Jones, G. Krinner, J.Marotzke, V. Naik, M. D. Palmer, G-K. Plattner, J. Rogelj, M. Rojas, J. Sillmann, T. Storelvmo, P. W. Thorne, B. Trewin, K. Achuta Rao, B. 4 Adhikary, R. P. Allan, K. Armour, G. Bala, R. Barimalala, S. Berger, J. G. Canadell, C. Cassou, A. Cherchi, 5 W. Collins, W. D. Collins, S. L. Connors, S. Corti, F. Cruz, F. J. Dentener, C. Dereczynski, A. Di Luca, A. 6 Diongue Niang, F. J. Doblas-Reyes, A. Dosio, H. Douville, F. Engelbrecht, V. Eyring, E. Fischer, P. Forster, 7 B. Fox-Kemper, J. S. Fuglestvedt, J. C. Fyfe, N. P. Gillett, L. Goldfarb, I. Gorodetskaya, J. M. Gutierrez, R. 8 Hamdi, E. Hawkins, H. T. Hewitt, P. Hope, A. S. Islam, C. Jones, D. S. Kaufman, R. E. Kopp, Y. Kosaka, J. 9 Kossin, S. Krakovska, J-Y. Lee, J. Li, T. Mauritsen, T. K. Maycock, M. Meinshausen, S-K. Min, P. M. S. 10 Monteiro, T. Ngo-Duc, F. Otto, I. Pinto, A. Pirani, K. Raghavan, R. Ranasinghe, A. C. Ruane, L. Ruiz, J-B. 11 Sallée, B. H. Samset, S. Sathyendranath, S. I. Seneviratne, A. A. Sörensson, S. Szopa, I. Takayabu, A-M. 12 Treguier, B. van den Hurk, R. Vautard, K. von Schuckmann, S. Zaehle, X. Zhang, K. Zickfeld, 2021, 13 Technical Summary. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group 14 I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., 15 P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. 16 Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. 17 Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press.
- Arneth, A., F. Denton, F. Agus, A. Elbehri, K. Erb, B. Osman Elasha, M. Rahimi, M. Rounsevell, A. Spence, R. Valentini, 2019: Framing and Context. In: Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems [P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, E. Calvo Buendia, V. Masson-Delmotte, H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, P. Zhai, R. Slade, S. Connors, R. van Diemen, M. Ferrat, E. Haughey, S. Luz, S. Neogi, M. Pathak, J. Petzold, J. Portugal Pereira, P. Vyas, E. Huntley, K. Kissick, M. Belkacemi, J. Malley, (eds.)]. In press.
- Asian Development Bank 2011. People's Republic of China: a strategy for drought management. (Co-financed by the Multi-Donor Trust Fund under the Water Financing Partnership Facility). Available online: <u>https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/project-document/75096/42025-012-prc-tacr.pdf</u>. Accessed on July 19, 2021.
- 4. Asian Development Bank 2013. Making grasslands sustainable in Mongolia: Adapting to climate and environmental change. Mandaluyong City, Philippines: Asian Development Bank
- 5. Baixin, Z. and Zhenguo, D. 2002. Agriculture in Shandong marches into global market. Xinhua News Agency. Available online: <u>http://www.china.org.cn/english/2002/Feb/26383.htm</u>. Accessed in August 2021.
- BBC 2019. North Korea suffers worst drought in decades. Available online: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-48290957</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- P. Borrelli et al. 2017, An assessment of the global impact of 21st century land use change on soil erosion. Nature Communication, 8, 2013. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02142-7</u>.
- Borrelli, P., Robinson, D. A., Panagos, P., Lugato, E., Yang, J.E., Alewell, C., Wuepper, D., Montanarella, L. and Ballabio, C. 2020. Land use and climate change impacts on global soil erosion by water (2015-2070). PNAS, 117 (36), 21994–22001. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2001403117.</u>
- Britannica n.d.(a) Climate of Gobi. Available online: <u>https://www.britannica.com/place/Gobi/Climate</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- Britannica n.d. (b). Economy of Shandong. Available online: <u>https://www.britannica.com/place/Shandong-province-China/Economy</u>. Accessed in August 2021.

- 11. Cherlet, M., Hutchinson, C., Reynolds, J., Hill, J., Sommer, S., and von Maltitz, G. (Eds.) 2018. World atlas of desertification, Publication Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- CGIAR-CSI 2019. Global aridity index and potential evapotranspiration climate database v2. Available online: <u>https://cgiarcsi.community/2019/01/24/global-aridity-index-and-potential-evapotranspiration-climate-database-v2/</u>. Accessed in August 2021.
- CGTN 2020. Chinese plateau province sees worst drought in 10 years. Available online: <u>https://news.cgtn.com/news/2020-04-18/Chinese-plateau-province-sees-worst-drought-in-10-years-PMGdSN543e/index.html</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- Climate Change Knowledge Portal 2018. Mongolia. Available online: <u>https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/country/mongolia/climate-data-historical</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- Darbalaeva, D., Mikheeva, A. and Zhamyanova, Y. 2020. The socio-economic consequences of the desertification processes in Mongolia. E3S Web of Conferences 164, 11001. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202016411001</u>.
- Ding, T. and Gao, H. 2019. The record-breaking extreme drought in Yunnan Province, southwest China during spring–early summer of 2019 and possible causes. Journal of Meteorological Research, 34, 997–1012. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13351-020-0032-8</u>.
- Duan, Y., Ma, Z. and Yang, Q. 2017. Characteristics of consecutive dry days variations in China. Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 130, 701–709. Available online: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00704-016-1984-6</u>.
- Douville, H., K. Raghavan, J. Renwick, R. P. Allan, P. A. Arias, M. Barlow, R. Cerezo-Mota, A. Cherchi, T. Y.Gan, J. Gergis, D. Jiang, A. Khan, W. Pokam Mba, D. Rosenfeld, J. Tierney, O. Zolina, 2021, Water Cycle Changes. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K.Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou47 (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press.
- Eco Daily Flash 2019. China drought. Available online: <u>https://erccportal.jrc.ec.europa.eu/ECHO-Products/Echo-Flash/ECHO-Flash-old/ECHO-Flash-List/yy/2019/mm/10</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Kingdom of Thailand 2020. China increases water outflow of Lancang river to downstream areas. Available online: <u>http://www.chinaembassy.or.th/eng/ztgx/t1736056.htm</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- 21. Enkhbold, E. 2016. The Foreseeable Future of Mongolia's Agriculture. Available online: https://blogs.adb.org/blog/foreseeable-future-mongolia-s-agriculture. Accessed in August 2021.
- 22. EU Science Hub n.d. Desertification and drought. Available online: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/research-topic/desertification-and-drought</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- 23. European Soil Data Centre 2021. Wind erosion. Available online: <u>https://esdac.jrc.ec.europa.eu/themes/wind-erosion</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- 24. Feng, S. and Fu, Q. 2013. Expansion of global drylands under a warming climate. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussions, 13, 14637–14665. Available online: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/acpd-13-14637-2013</u>.
- Feng, Q., Ma, H., Jiang, X., Wang, X. & Cao, S. 2015. What has caused desertification in China? Scientific Reports, 5, 15998, Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep15998</u>.

- Feng, J., Zhang, Y. and Wang, S. 2020. Drought events and causes in north China in 2018. EGU General Assembly 2020.
- 27. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) 1995. Desertification and drought Extent and consequences. Proposal for a participatory approach to combat desertification. SYMPOSIUM ON LAND DEGRADATION AND POVERTY. International Fund for Agricultural Development Directorate-General for Development Cooperation of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Italy.
- ----- 2009. FAO Map Catalog Map of aridity (Global – 10 arc minutes). Available online: <u>https://data.apps.fao.org/map/catalog/static/api/records/221072ae-</u> 2090-48a1-be6f-5a88f061431a. Accessed in September 2021.
- 29. ----- 2010. AQUAMAPS Global spatial database on water and agriculture. Available online: <u>http://www.fao.org/land-water/databases-and-software/aquamaps/en/</u>. Accessed in July 2020.
- ------ 2010. Gridded livestock of the world (GLW 3), Available online: <u>https://www.fao.org/livestock-systems/global-distributions/en/</u>. Accessed in September 2021.
- -----n.d. Global symposium on soil erosion: Key messages. Available online: <u>http://www.fao.org/about/meetings/soil-erosion-symposium/key-messages/en/</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- Framji, K. K., Garg, B. C. and Luthra, S. D. L. 1981. Irrigation and drainage in the world: a global review, Volume 1, International Commission on Irrigation & Drainage, the University of Wisconsin – Madison. Available online: <u>https://edepot.wur.nl/183118</u>.
- Fu, Q., Lin, L., Huang, J., Feng, S. & Gettelman A. 2016. Changes in terrestrial aridity for the period 850–2080 from the Community Earth System Model. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmosphere, 121, 2857–2873. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2015JD024075</u>.
- Ganbaatar, G. and Lee, K.S. 2013. Classification of crop lands over northern Mongolia using multi-temporal Landsat TM data. Korean Journal of Remote Sensing, 29(6), 611~619. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.7780/kjrs.2013.29.6.4</u>.
- Garmaeva, E. Zh., Bolgovb, M. V., Ayurzhanaeva, A. A. and Tsydypova B. Z. 2019. Water resources in Mongolia and their current state. Russian Meteorology and Hydrology, 44(10), 659–666. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.3103/S1068373919100030</u>.
- 36. GEF 2021. Land degradation. Available online: <u>https://www.thegef.org/topics/land-degradation#:~:text=Globally%2C%20about%2025%20percent%20of,land%20area%20has%20been%20degraded.&text=If%20this%20trend%20continues%2C%2095,farmers%2C%20and%20the%20very%20poor. Accessed in July 2021.</u>
- Global Data Lab and United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) 2020. Subnational Human Development Index (HDI) Version 5.0 (2020). Available online: <u>https://globaldatalab.org/shdi/download_files/</u>. Accessed in October 2021.
- 38. Gutiérrez, J. M., R. G. Jones, G. T. Narisma, L. M. Alves, M. Amjad, I. V. Gorodetskaya, M. Grose, N. A. B. Klutse, S. Krakovska, J. Li, D. Martínez-Castro, L. O. Mearns, S. H. Mernild, T. Ngo-Duc, B. van den Hurk, J-H. Yoon, 2021, Atlas. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K.

Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J. B. R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press.

- Heiner, M., Galbadrakh, D. and Kiesecker, J. 2020. Shifting winds in the Mongolian Gobi Desert: nature and traditions face the modern era. Encyclopedia of the World's Biomes, Volume 2. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.11877-9</u>.
- Hijioka, Y., E. Lin, J.J. Pereira, R.T. Corlett, X. Cui, G.E. Insarov, R.D. Lasco, E. Lindgren, and A. Surjan, 2014: Asia. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Barros, V.R., C.B. Field, D.J. Dokken, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L. White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1327-1370.
- 41. Huang, J., Yu, H., Guan, X., Wang, G. & Guo, R 2016. Accelerated dryland expansion under climate change. Nature Climate Change 6, 166–171. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2837</u>.
- 42. International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies 2019. Information bulletin: DPRK Korea: drought and for insecurity. Available online: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/IBDPRKDFI04302019.pdf. Accessed in July 2021.
- IPBES (2018): The IPBES assessment report on land degradation and restoration. Montanarella, L., Scholes, R., and Brainich, A. (eds.). Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services, Bonn, Germany. 744 pages.
- 44. IPCC 2012. Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation. Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, C.B. Field, V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor and P.M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.
- 45. IPCC, 2014: Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp.
- 46. IPCC, 2021: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press.
- 47. IPCC WGI Interactive Atlas 2021. IPCC WGI Interactive Atlas: Regional information (Advanced). Available online: <u>https://interactive-atlas.ipcc.ch/</u>. Accessed in October 2021.
- 48. IPCC WGI The Physical Science Basis 2021. Regional Fact Sheet Asia. Available online: <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/downloads/factsheets/IPCC_AR6_WGI_Regional_Fact_Sheet_Asia.pdf</u>. Accessed in November 2021.
- Jinghao, Y. 2019. Severe drought continues to rage in Yunnan Province. Available online: <u>https://news.cgtn.com/news/3d3d774d7a63444f34457a6333566d54/index.html</u>.Accessed in August 2021.
- 50. KOICA-UN ESCAP 2019. Disaster management on Rep. of Korea especially in drought management. KOICA-UN ESCAP Capacity building on drought monitoring and early warning. Available online: <u>https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/Lecture%204.%20Drought%20Management%20in%20Korea_Minist</u>ry%20of%20the%20Interior%20and%20Safety%20of%20ROK.pdf. Accessed in July 2021.

- 51. Kust, G. S., Andreeva, O. V. and Dobrynin, D. V. 2011. Desertification Assessment and Mapping in the Russian Federation. Arid Ecosystems, 1(1), 14–28. Available online: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1134/S2079096111010057</u>.
- Lamchin, M., Lee, J.Y., Lee, W., Lee, E.J., Kim, M., Lim, C., Choi, H. and Kim, S. 2016. Assessment of land cover change and desertification using remote sensing technology in a local region of Mongolia. Advances in Space Research, <u>57(1)</u>, 64-77. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asr.2015.10.006</u>.
- 53. Le, Q., Nkonya, E., & Mirzabaev, A. 2016. Biomass productivity-based mapping of global land degradation hotspots. In E. Nkonya, A. Mirzabaev, & J. von Braun (Eds.), Economics of land degradation and improvement-A global assessment for sustainable development, 55-84. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- Lia, N., Lina, H., Wanga, T., Lia, Y., Liua, Y., Chena, X. and Hua, X. 2020. Impact of climate change on cotton growth and yields in Xinjiang, China. Field Crops Research, 247. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2019.107590</u>.
- Lin, L., Gettelman, A., Fu, Q. & Xu, Y 2016. Simulated differences in 21st-century aridity due to different scenarios of greenhouse gases and aerosols. Climatic Change, 146, 407–422 Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-016-1615-3</u>.
- Liwen, T., Jianpin, C., Haijiang, X., Rensong, G., Tao, L. and Bin, Z. n.d. Xinjiang cotton production: status and its problems. Available online: <u>https://baumwollboerse.de/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Vortrag-Liwen.pdf</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- Wan, L., Zhou, J., Guo, H., Cui, M. and Liu, Y. 2016. Trend of water resource amount, drought frequency, and agricultural exposure to water stresses in the karst regions of South China. Natural Hazards, 80, 23–42. Available online: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11069-015-1954-9</u>.
- Longjun, C. 2019. UN Convention to Combat Desertification, Editor(s): J.O. Nriagu, Encyclopedia of Environmental Health, Elsevier, Pages 504–517.
- Melissa, M., Downing, R., Nejadhashemi, A. P., Harrigan, T. and Woznicki, S.A. 2017. Climate change and livestock: Impacts, adaptation, and mitigation. Climate Risk Management, 16, 145–163. Available online: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2017.02.001</u>.
- Meng, X., Gao, X., Li, S., Li, S. and Lei, J. Monitoring desertification in Mongolia based on Landsat images and Google Earth Engine from 1990 to 2020. Ecological Indicators, 129. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2021.107908</u>.
- Miao, L. Ye, P., He, B., Chen, L. and Cui, X. 2015. Future climate impact on the desertification in the dry land Asia Using AVHRR GIMMS NDVI3g data. Remote Sensing, 7, 3863-3877. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs70403863</u>.
- Middleton. N. 2016. Rangeland management and climate hazards in drylands: dust storms, desertification and the overgrazing debate. Natural Hazards, 92, 57–70. Available online: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11069-016-2592-6.
- Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Government of Japan 2015. Climate Change Adaptation Plan. Available online: <u>https://www.maff.go.jp/e/policies/env/env_policy/attach/pdf/index-1.pdf</u>. Accessed in August 2021.
- 64. Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of The People's Republic of China n.d. Overview. Available online: <u>http://english.moa.gov.cn/</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- 65. Ministry of Environment and Tourism of Mongolia (METM) 2018. Third National Communication of Mongolia, under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Available online:

https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/06593841_Mongolia-NC3-2-Mongolia%20TNC%202018%20pr.pdf. Accessed in June 2021.

- 66. Ministry of Land and Environment Protection, Democratic People's Republic of Korea 2012. Environment and climate change outlook. Available online: <u>https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/9679/-Environment_and_Climate_Change_Outlook-2012ECCO_DPRK_2012.pdf.pdf?sequence=3&%3BisAllowed=</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- 67. Mirzabaev, A., J. Wu, J. Evans, F. García-Oliva, I.A.G. Hussein, M.H. Iqbal, J. Kimutai, T. Knowles, F. Meza, D. Nedjraoui, F. Tena, M. Türkeş, R.J. Vázquez, M. Weltz, 2019: Desertification. In: Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems [P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, E. Calvo Buendia, V. Masson-Delmotte, H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, P. Zhai, R. Slade, S. Connors, R. van Diemen, M. Ferrat, E. Haughey, S. Luz, S. Neogi, M. Pathak, J. Petzold, J. Portugal Pereira, P. Vyas, E. Huntley, K. Kissick, M. Belkacemi, J. Malley, (eds.)]. In press.
- NASA Earth Observatory n.d. Shrinking lakes on the Mongolian plateau. Available online: <u>https://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/images/85665/shrinking-lakes-on-the-mongolian-plateau</u>. Accessed in October 2021.
- National Drought Mitigation Center n.d. Livestock production and drought. Available online: <u>https://drought.unl.edu/ranchplan/DroughtBasics/LivestockProductionandDrought.aspx</u>. Accessed in August 2021.
- 70. NEASPEC Strategic Plan 2021-2025. Available online: <u>http://www.neaspec.org/sites/default/files/NEASPEC%20Strategic%20Plan%202021-2025_0.pdf</u>. Accessed in August 2021.
- 71. Olsson, L., H. Barbosa, S. Bhadwal, A. Cowie, K. Delusca, D. Flores-Renteria, K. Hermans, E. Jobbagy, W. Kurz, D. Li, D.J. Sonwa, L. Stringer, 2019: Land Degradation. In: Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems [P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, E. Calvo Buendia, V. Masson-Delmotte, H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, P. Zhai, R. Slade, S. Connors, R. van Diemen, M. Ferrat, E. Haughey, S. Luz, S. Neogi, M. Pathak, J. Petzold, J. Portugal Pereira, P. Vyas, E. Huntley, K. Kissick, M. Belkacemi, J. Malley, (eds.)]. In press.
- 72. Ranasinghe, R., A. C. Ruane, R. Vautard, N. Arnell, E. Coppola, F. A. Cruz, S. Dessai, A. S. Islam, M. Rahimi, D. Ruiz Carrascal, J. Sillmann, M. B. Sylla, C. Tebaldi, W. Wang, R. Zaaboul, 2021, Climate Change Information for Regional Impact and for Risk Assessment. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J. B. R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press.
- 73. Rao, M.P., Davi, N.K., D'Arrigo, R.D., Skees, J., Nachin, B. Leland, C., Lyon, B., Wang, S. and Byambasuren, O. 2015. Dzuds, droughts, and livestock mortality in Mongolia. Environmental Research Letters, 10 074012.
- 74. Rechtschaffen, D. 2017. How China's growing deserts are choking the country. Available online: <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/danielrechtschaffen/2017/09/18/how-chinas-growing-deserts-are-choking-the-country/?sh=783ca5995d1b</u>. Accessed on August 20, 2021.
- 75. Rouzi, A., Halik, U., Thevs, N., Welp, M. and Aishan, T. 2017. Water-efficient alternative crops for sustainable agriculture along the Tarim Basin: A comparison of the economic potentials of Apocynum pictum, Chinese Red

Date and Cotton in Xinjiang, China. Sustainability. 10(35). Available online: https://doi.org/10.3390/su10010035.

- 76. Seneviratne, S. I., X. Zhang, M. Adnan, W. Badi, C. Dereczynski, A. Di Luca, S. Ghosh, I. Iskandar, J. 45 Kossin, S. Lewis, F. Otto, I. Pinto, M. Satoh, S. M. Vicente-Serrano, M. Wehner, B. Zhou, 2021, Weather 46 and Climate Extreme Events in a Changing Climate. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. 47 Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 48 Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. 49 Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J. B. R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, 50 O.Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press.
- 77. Sieck, K. Nam, C. Bouwer, L.M., Rechid, D. and Jacob, D. 2021. Weather extremes over Europe under 1.5°C and 2.0°C global warming from HAPPI regional climate ensemble simulations. Earth System Dynamics, 12, 457–468. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/esd-2020-4.</u>
- 78. Sherwood, S. & Fu, Q 2014. A drier future? Science, 343, 737-739.
- Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC). Gridded Population of the World (GPW), v4. UN WPP-Adjusted Population Count 2020, v4.11. Available online: <u>https://sedac.ciesin.columbia.edu/data/collection/gpwv4/sets/browse</u>. Accessed in May 2020.
- Srinivasan1, S., Rafisura, K.M. and Subbiah, A. R. 2011. Climate information requirements for community-level risk management and adaptation. Climate Research, 47, 5–12. Available online: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/cr00962</u>.
- 81. State report. (2017). Moscow. On the state and environmental protection of the Russian Federation in 2016 (Vol. 2017, p. 760) ([in Russian]).
- 82. Trading Economics 2021. Japan Agricultural Irrigated Land (% Of Total Agricultural Land). Available online: <u>https://tradingeconomics.com/japan/agricultural-irrigated-land-percent-of-total-agricultural-land-wb-data.html</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- Tsymbarovich, P., Kust, G., Kumani, M., Golosov, V. and Andreeva, O. 2020. Soil erosion: An important indicator for the assessment of land degradation neutrality in Russia. International Soil and Water Conservation Research, 8, 418-429. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iswcr.2020.06.002</u>.
- United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification n.d. High-level dialogue on desertification, land degradation and drought. Available online: <u>https://www.unccd.int/high-level-dialogue-desertification-landdegradation-and-drought</u>. Accessed on July 9, 2021.
-n.d. Tokyo International Symposium on Combating Desertification. Available online: <u>https://www.unccd.int/news-events/tokyo-international-symposium-</u> <u>combating-desertification</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- 86. ----- 2017. The Global Land Outlook, first edition. Bonn, Germany.
- 87. ----- 2019. The Global Land Outlook, Northeast Asia Thematic Report, Bonn, Germany.
- 88. United Nations, Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) 2017(a). Unlocking the potential for East and North-East Asian economic cooperation and integration
- 49. ------ 2017b. Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction (GAR) Atlas Risk Data Platform. Available online: <u>https://risk.preventionweb.net/index.html</u>. Accessed in October 2021.

- 90. -----2020. The disaster riskscape across East and North-East Asia: key takeaways for stakeholders. ST/ESCAP/2882.
- 91. United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR) 2021. GAR special report on drought. Geneva.
- USAID-MANAGE n.d. Demand analysis report Mongolia. Available online: <u>https://www.manage.gov.in/ftf-itt/demand/Mongolia.pdf</u>. Accessed in August 2021.
- Vogel, J., Paton, E., Aich, V. and Bronstert, A. 2021. Increasing compound warm spells and droughts in the Mediterranean Basin. Weather and Climate Extremes, 32, 100312. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2021.100312</u>.
- 94. Wang, C., Linderholm, H.W., Song, Y., Wang, F., Liu, Y., Tian, J., Xu, J., Yingbo Song, Y. and Ren, G. 2020. Impacts of drought on Maize and Soybean production in northeast China during the past five decades. International Journal of Environment Research and Public Health, 17, 2459. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17072459</u>.
- 95. Wei, T. Zhang, T., Bruin, K.D., Glomrød, S. and Shi, Q. 2017. Extreme weather impacts on Maize yield: The case of Shanxi Province in China. Sustainability, 9(41). Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su9010041</u>.
- Wilby, R. L., Troni, J., Biot, Y., Tedd, L., Hewitson, B. C., Smithe, D. M. and Suttonf, R. T. 2009. A review of climate risk information for adaptation and development planning. International Journal of Climatology. 29: 1193–1215. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.1839</u>.
- 97. World Health Organization n.d. Drought. Available online: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/drought</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- World Bank n.d. Water in agriculture. Available online: <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/water-in-agriculture#4</u>. Accessed in July 2021.
- 99. Xinhua 2019. Drought affects nearly 800,000 hectares of crops in north China. Available online: http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2019-07/05/c_138201894.htm. Accessed in July 2021.
- 100.Xu, K., D. Yang, H. Yang, Z. Li, Y. Qin and Y. Shen 2015. Spatio-temporal variation of drought in China during 1961–2012: A climatic perspective. Journal of Hydrology, 526, 253–264. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.09.047</u>.
- 101. Ying, Z. 2020. Why is water-rich Yunnan often hit by droughts? Available online: <u>https://news.cgtn.com/news/2020-05-02/Why-is-water-rich-Yunnan-often-hit-by-droughts--</u> Q9Nw5TBCz6/index.html. Accessed in July 2021.
- 102. Yu, C., Huang, X., Chen, H., Huang, G., Ni, S., Wright, J.S., Hall, J., Ciais, P., Zhang, J., Xiao, Y., Sun, Z., Wang, X., and Yu, L. 2018. Assessing the impacts of extreme agricultural droughts in China under climate and socioeconomic changes. Earth's Future, 6, 689–703. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2017EF000768</u>.
- 103. Yulin, Y., Jin, L.S., Squires, V. Kyung-soo, K. and Hey-min, P. 2011. Combating desertification and land degradation: proven practices from Asia and the Pacific. Korea Forest Service, Republic of Korea.
- 104.Ziese, M., Schneider, U., Meyer-Christoffer, A., Schamm, K., Vido, J., Finger, P., Bissolli, P., Pietzsch, S. and Becker, A. 2014. The GPCC Drought Index – a new, combined and gridded global drought index. Earth System Science Data, 6, 285–295. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-6-285-2014</u>.
- 105.Zhang, L. and Zhou, T. 2015. Drought over East Asia: A Review. Journal of climate, 28(8), 3375–3399. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-14-00259.1</u>.
- 106.Zhang, L, Zhou, T. Chen, X., Wu, P., Christidis, N., and Lott, F.C. 2020. The late spring drought of 2018 in south China. American Meteorological Society. 101(1), S59–S64